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The United Shopping Tower is located on the southwest corner of Third 
Avenue and Pine Street in the "uptown" area of Seattle's central 
business district. This commercial and retail section developed as 
businesses moved north from the original center of trade in the 
Pioneer Square area. In the immediate vicinity, other buildings of 
note stand as distinguished neighbors of the Shopping Tower—one 
block to the west is the ten-story Standard Furniture building of 1907 
by A. Warren Gould, on the adjacent property to the south stands the 
Fischer Studio Building of 1912 by Bebb & Mendel, and John Graham's 
Bon Marche department store of 1929 is located on the northeast corner 
of the same intersection.

During the first decades of this century the southwest corner was 
occupied by the Federal Hotel, a simple, three-story, brick-faced 
block, which was demolished in 1928. In January of 1929 construction 
was begun on the United Shopping Tower, one of the finest local 
examples of an Art Deco commercial building.

At ground level the building occupies the entire corner, its retail 
facades extending directly to the property line. Two more stories 
complete the large rectangular lower block of retail/commercial space. 
Above this three-story base rises an office tower of ten additional 
stories with a setback at the twelfth floor forming corner terraces. 
Vertical emphasis is enhanced by the graceful uninterrupted piers 
and narrow window mullions and by the recessed, vertically ribbed 
spandrels. The large, Chicago-style windows filling the entire space 
between vertical supports give an airiness and lightness to the tower, 
while the Art Deco ornament enriches the wall surfaces and pier caps 
at the polygonal crown of the building.

The Shopping Tower is a reinforced concrete structure comprising a 
basement and thirteen stories. The below-grade basement of 14,500 
sq. ft. extends beneath the sidewalks on Third Avenue and Pine Street 
through an easement common for Seattle's downtown buildings. The 
three-story base, with 12,200 sq. ft. on each floor, has a frontage of 
113 feet on Third Avenue and 108 feet on Pine Street. The original 
plans provided for seven retail shops at street level with an additional 
small newspaper/tobacco shop off the spacious lobby located in the 
northwest corner of the ground floor. Recessed entries were provided 
for each shop, with large plate glass display windows in bronze Kawneer 
settings above base facings of marble. Three-part transoms surmounted 
by ornamental metal cresting filled the width of each bay above the 
shop fronts.

The retail spaces at street level have undergone numerous changes 
over the years as tenants' needs altered interior arrangements and 
entrances and changing tastes dictated the application of modern 
veneers and signs over the original facades. The present owner intends 
to remove unsightly accretions and renovate the shop fronts.
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In the mid-1950s the lobby was remodeled, eliminating the suspended 
plaster ceiling and the bronze elevator doors with their ornamental 
Art Deco panels. Additional retail space was incorporated in the lobby 
area, making the public entrance smaller.

Above the first story the building is remarkably well preserved. Recent 
cleaning and tuck pointing have returned the exterior to its original 
appearance, and today the tower stands crip and white in the uptown 
skyline.

The Third Avenue (east) and Pine Street (north) elevations are faced 
with black-spotted, cream enamel terra cotta produced by Gladding, 
McBean & Company. Above the second story an ornamental frieze of this 
same terra cotta with incised stylized floral patterns encircles the 
two main facades. This decorative band marks the top of the original 
base; however, in 1939 the third story was expanded to the dimensions 
of the lower two stories, its fenestration and detailing matching those 
of the fourth to eleventh stories of the tower.

Above the third story, the Pine Street facade of the tower continues 
as a vertical extension of the four central bays of the base. The 
original setback of one bay at the east and west was modified in 1941 
when an additional bay from the fourth to twelfth floors was added on 
the west. This addition on the alley side of the building is hardly 
noticeable since the design duplicated the existing bays and the same 
terra cotta facing was used. The tower is also set back three bays 
(55 feet) from the southern edge of .the base, allowing ample light to 
reach the south elevation and affording a view of the tower as a 
free-standing element in the still relatively low-rise skyline of this 
section of the business district.

Above the eleventh floor windows, a wide terra cotta frieze of stylized 
flower and leaf motifs forms a parapet between the major piers, break­ 
ing out into two narrow polygonal balconies between the central piers 
of the north elevation. Corner piers are capped by more geometric 
ornament at the tenth floor level, while the central piers rise un­ 
interrupted to the twelfth story where their flat surfaces erupt into 
clusters of vertical ribs framing tall arched window openings. Above 
these windows, large-scale combined floral and geometric terra cotta 
ornament continues and culminates the decorative theme of the building.
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The. polygonal crown of the tower is created by the angled corners of 
the twelfth and thirteenth stories, forming triangular terraces at 
all but the southwest corner. 'The northeast and northwest terraces 
are joined by a narrow passage", forming a kind of loggia with the small 
projecting balconies on the north elevation. These amenitites, plus 
the substantially higher ceiling height (17 feet vs. 11^ feet for the 
typical office floor), and unobstructed views in all directions, makes 
the twelfth floor the most desirable space in the building. The 
original plans indicate that a tearoom was proposed for this space, but 
it was never installed. A photographer occupied the twelfth floor during 
the early 1930s, until it became the location of the executive offices 
of the Northwestern Mutual Fire Insurance Company in 1933. A tearoom 
was installed on the eighth floor in 1930, designed by the locally 
prominent architects, William J. Bain and Lionel Pries.

The thirteenth, or penthouse, floor houses mechanical equipment. Light 
is provided by small windows at the north and south and skylights 
in the roof. Its unadorned exterior wall surfaces seem bland, though 
neon lights once encircled its parapet edge and may be placed there 
again. A decorative monogram —ST— is located just below the top 
of the parapet between the two small windows on the north elevation. 
This is the only remaining indication of the building's original 
designation of Shopping Tower.

The original drawings indicate that a tall mast was always intended to 
complete the tower's silhouette. A graceful 10-foot high copper base 
over a concrete pedestal was to have a 30-foot tall pipe pole sur­ 
mounted by a zinc ball of 16 inches diameter. It was not until 1937, 
however, that a steel mast of somewhat heavier design was erected, its 
lighted globe serving as an airplane warning beacon. Maintenance 
problems caused the mast to be removed in later years. In a practice 
common during the 1930s, the crown of the tower was dramatically 
illuminated by floodlights on the terraces.

The building is presently being rehabilitated by a new owner after 
standing-vacant for a short time in the late 1970s. The exterior 
terra cotta facing has been cleaned and plans are being formulated 
to renovate or adapt the street level facades depending on the amount 
of original material found beneath the present shop fronts. Interiors 
are being renovated for modern office space, with all mechanical 
systems being brought up to code requirements. The old freight 
elevator has been removed and a new heating system installed.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The United Shopping, Tower is significant to the city of Seattle as a 
particularly fine example of an Art Deco commercial building located 
in the central business district. Constructed in 1929, the tower is 
representative of a spirit of financial enterprise and commercial 
expansion which prevailed in Seattle during the decade of the 1920s. 
The erection of a number of high-rise buildings in the period 192£-19.31 
dramatically changed the scale of downtown and focused attention on the 
new skyscraper forms which had been evolving in New York City. The 
Shopping Tower is neither the largest nor the most ornately decorated 
of Seattle's Art Deco buildings, but it remains a fine and well-preserved 
example of the style in its regional expression in the Pacific Northwest.

The site of the tower, at the southwest corner of Third Avenue and Pine 
Street, had been occupied during the early decades of the twentieth 
century by the Federal Hotel, a three-story brick building with shops 
at the street level. By the late twenties, however, the property had 
become part of the growing real estate holdings of one of the city's 
most enterprising your capitalists, Joseph Gottstein, ,a member of 
the many branched Gottstein family whose forebears had left Poland 
in the mid-nineteenth century and settled in South Dakota after the 
Civil War. Joe's father had arrived in Seattle in 1879 with enough 
money from pack peddling to purchase several saloons on First Avenue. 
In a short time he became the largest liquor wholesaler in the northwest, 
as well as the owner of a stable of racehorses. Joe Gottstein was.born 
in 1891 at the family home on First Hill and as a young man was sent 
east to acquire an education and social polish at Philips Exeter Academy 
and Brown University. Returning to Seattle in the early 1920s, he 
joined in an informal partnership with William Edris, and the two 
young entrepeneurs set the local business community buzzing with their 
audacious investment deals.

A photograph accompanying an article in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer 
of October 28, 1928 shows the two young capitalists in long overcoasts 
and snappy fedoras, holding cigaretts and smiling confidently at each 
other, while the headline proclaims: "Two Youthful Investors Mold 
City's Future and Make Fortune," The newspaper article lists a number 
of downtown properties, including the Shopping Tower site, which they 
had acquired in the previous few years, and lauds their boldness in 
taking "a considerable part of downtown Seattle in their capable hands" 
and their success in "changing the entire aspect of the city's .business
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center." The enthusiasms of the time is colloquially expressed by 
Gottstein when he is asked to explain their plan of operation:

Why the town just can't keep from going ahead, can it? 
Well, somebody's going to make money on these big deals. 
Too many cities wait for outside capital to come in and 
clean up all the gravy. We've got confidence in Seattle's 
future, and there isn't anything else to it except to buy 
'em and sell 'em.

Although Joe Gottstein made his fortune in real estate investments, he 
is probably best remembered for opening Longacres racetrack in 1933, 
and his name is most often associated with horse breeding and racing 
in Washington State.

The developer of the site which Gottstein and Edris owned was the in­ 
vestment firm of Drumheller, Ehrlichman & White. Founded in 1921 as 
Drumheller & Ehrlichman, by 1929 the firm controlled eleven corpora­ 
tions which constituted the "United Group." In addition'to providing 
diverse investment and insurance services, they had aTrefa&y con­ 
structed the 18-story Medical and Dental Building (1924) and were in 
the process of erecting the 23-story Exchange Building (1929). The 
young company had expanded rapidly during the twenties due to the 
energy and resourcefulness of its two founders. Roscoe M. Drumheller 
came from a well-known pioneering eastern Washington family. His 
father Jesse Drumheller, was one of the biggest landowners in the 
Walla Walla area, where Roscoe was born in 1882. He was educated at 
Whitman Academy and Willamette University and his first venture into 
the business world was in real estate and insurance. In 1915 he was 
appointed collector of U.S. Customs for Washington State and held 
that post until he founded the investment firm of Drumheller & 
Ehrlichman in 1921.

While Drumheller was chairman of the board, Ben B. Ehrlichman, originally 
vice president, became president of the firm in 1925 at the age of 30. 
By 1929 he was an official in ten other financial concerns with in­ 
terests throughout the Pacific Northwest. A native of Minneapolis, 
Ehrlichman had come to Washington at an early age. His family settled 
first in Tacoma, but moved to Seattle in 1907. Upon graduating from 
Broadway High School, he immediately entered the banking community, 
first in Seattle and later in Tacoma. His partnership with Drumheller 
and the rapid expansion of their firm made him an important force in 
the development of Seattle during the 1920's.
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As architect for the Shopping Tower, the developers chose the local 
firm of Henry Bittman, which specialized in the design of commercial 
buildings. Henry Bittman himself was a colorful figure in Seattle's 
architectural community. He was born in 1882 in New York City, where 
his father was a well-known interior designer. After graduating from 
Pratt Institute he had further training in Chicago, probably at the 
Armour Institute of Technology. Arriving in the Seattle area about 
1905, he began practicing as a structural engineer. With his forceful 
and talented wife, Jessie, who later became a renowned horticulturist, 
he settled into a bohemian lifestyle in the old mining town of New­ 
castle. Later they moved to an eclectic Tudor house which Bittman 
designed in the then suburban area of Wallingford, where Jessie could 
have ample space for her large and impressive garden. Having given 
up the bohemian lifestyle of his youth, Bittman now savored the refined 
life of a cultured gentleman. He was noted as a patron of the arts 
and original works were specially commissioned to be displayed at 
lavish entertainments given in the big Tudor house.

In 1906-07 Bittman had formed a brief partnership with the architect 
William Kingsley, but after this was dissolved he again practiced alone 
as a structural engineer. In later years, as his business expanded, 
he employed more staff and operated as an architectural and engineering 
firm, but always under his own single name. One of his most talented 
associates was the architect Harold Adams, who in temperment and 
personal habits was the exact opposite of Henry Bittman. It was un­ 
doubtedly Adams who was the designer of the Shopping Tower and his 
creative hand can be seen in the original drawings of the ornament and 
other details of the building.

The financial scene was rather gloomy when the Shopping Tower was 
completed. Although the full impact of the Depression did not hit 
Seattle until a few years after the stock market crash of 1929, none­ 
theless, Drumheller, Ehrlichman & White had some difficulties in 
renting space, as well as other financial problems. In 1932 the lease 
on the property was taken over by E. M. Greenwood, who managed the 
building for the next 47 years. In January of 1933 the Northwestern 
Mutual Fire Association, the country's largest fire insurance company 
which had been founded in 1901, moved into the building. Its executive 
offices and board room were housed on the terraced twelfth floor. The 
company's name was later changed to Northwestern Mutual Insurance Co. 
and, as the principal tenant, it gave its name to the tower for over 
40 years. In 1974, Northwestern Mutual became the Unigard Insurance
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Group and moved its corporate headquarters to the new Financial Center, 
although a small office was retained in the tower until 1976. The 
tower was renamed the Insurance Center in the hope of attracting in­ 
dependent insurance agents as tenants. However, the building was 
recently purchased by a subsidiary of Olympic Savings and Loan Assn.; 
the executive offices and board room of that institution will shortly 
be installed on the twelfth floor, and a branch office will occupy 
the corner space at street level. The building has been renamed the 
Olympic Tower.
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